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Architectural Review Board Staff Report 
 

Project Type:  Site Development Section Plan   
 
Meeting Date:  February 11, 2016 
 
From:   Jessica Henry   
   Project Planner 
 
Cc:   Aimee Nassif, Planning & Development Services Director 
 
Location: 11 Arnage Road 
 
Applicant:  Thouvenot, Wade, & Moerchen, Inc. on behalf of PGB Investments 
 

Description: River Crossings, Lot 4 (Holiday Inn Express): A Site Development Section 
Plan, Landscape Plan, Lighting Plan, Architectural Elevations and 
Architect’s Statement of Design for a 3.17 acre tract of land zoned “PC” 
Planned Commercial District located east of Arnage Rd., north of 
Chesterfield Airport Road. 

 
PROPOSAL SUMMARY 
The request is for a four story, 91 room hotel located within the Chesterfield Commons Six 
development. The proposed hotel is 52,278 square feet in size and will be located on Lot 4, which 
is 3.17 acres in size. The River Crossings development is zoned “PC” Planned Commercial District 
and is governed under the terms and conditions of City of Chesterfield Ordinance 2556. The 
exterior building materials will be comprised of EIFS, stone, brick, and a blue painted metal 
canopy. The roof of the structure will be a flat roof with a parapet wall to screen roof-mounted 
mechanical units.  
 

HISTORY OF SUBJECT SITE 
The subject site was zoned from “C8” Planned Commercial District to “PC” Planned Commercial 
District in August 2001 via ordinance #1772.  In 2002 the City of Chesterfield approved Ordinance 
#1871 which amended the original ordinance to allow for a sign package for the development.  
In September of 2007, Ordinance #2385 was approved and amended parking and structure 
setbacks as well as allowing an increase in the number of buildings and lots for the River Crossings 
development.  An ordinance amendment in 2008 amended the landscaping requirements for 
Lots 6, 7, and 8; this ordinance was subsequently repealed and replaced by the current 
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ordinance, Ordinance 2566, which amended openspace, maximum building square footage, and 
building height requirements. 
 

 
 
STAFF ANALYSIS 

General Requirements for Site Design: 
 
A. Site Relationships        
The subject site is located within the River Crossings development which contains eight separate 
lots and six buildings to date, as shown in yellow above. There are currently two vacant lots within 
the development, the subject site, and Lot 6, to the west of the Lamborghini building.  
 
The proposed Holiday Inn Express hotel is situated behind the recently remodeled St. Luke’s 
Urgent Care located along Chesterfield Airport Road. At four stories and just under 48 feet in 
height, this will be the tallest building within the development.   
 

B. Circulation System and Access        
The River Crossings development has one full shared access on Chesterfield Airport Road. That 
access leads to internal access drives that serve all eight lots within the development. The east-
west access drive continues westward and eastward to the Chesterfield Commons Six 
development and the Chesterfield Commons Seven development, terminating at the western 
boundary of the Chesterfield Commons Seven development until future development occurs on 
the adjacent vacant parcels.  
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In addition to the sidewalk along Chesterfield Airport Road, internal crosswalks provide 
pedestrian circulation to the lots within the development.  
 
C. Topography        
The existing grade of the property is nearly flat. Minimal changes to the existing topography are 
planned.  
 
D. Retaining Walls     
Retaining walls are not proposed as part of this project. 
 
General Requirements for Building Design: 
 
A. Scale        
The applicant is proposing a four story building of nearly forty-eight feet in height and 52,278 
square feet in size. Although this is the tallest building in the development, Ordinance 2566 
specifically limits the building on the subject site to four stories and forty-eight feet in height, 
exclusive of parapets and roof screening, whereas a maximum of three stories and forty-five feet 
is prescribed for the other lots within the development. 
 
The south building elevation, which is the front façade of the hotel, has a prominent front canopy 
entry that brings the 4 story building down to the human scale. This canopy on the main façade 
is comprised of stone columns and a blue metal roof structure.  This canopy will also provide 
cover for the drive-up access to the building.  The other elevations of the building all feature 
minor canopies that serve to provide cover for various pedestrian entrances.  
 
B. Design        
Ordinance 2566 includes specific design guidelines for the River Crossings development. Below 
is a listing of the applicable guidelines (in italics) for the proposed Holiday Inn Express along with 
Staff input (in bold).  
 

1. A minimum of seventy-five (75%) of the exterior walls of all buildings will be constructed 
of brick masonry units. The building is constructed primarily of brick in three compatible 
colors. 

2. All rooftop equipment will be screened from normal mid-range view lines by building 
parapets and/or roof screens constructed of metal. The applicant is proposing roof 
parapets that will fully screen the rooftop equipment, as shown by the sight-line study 
included in the submittal packets. 

3. Service areas and trash enclosures will also be constructed of brick masonry units. Gates 
will be made of unpainted wood boards. The trash enclosure is constructed of the same 
brick as the primary building. Cedar wood gates are proposed. 
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C. Materials and Color       
The building will be primarily comprised of brick and stone, with minor elements of EIFS and 
sheet metal flashing. Three different colors of brick are proposed—a beige, a brown, and a red. 
A bright blue paint is proposed for the metal portions of the entry canopy. The design also 
includes typical hotel room windows on all elevations which will have anodized aluminum frames 
with louvers incorporated to accommodate the interior HVAC units as shown in the Architectural 
Elevations. Each of the proposed materials is used on all four sides of the building, and this is 
consistent with the Architectural Review Standards for the Chesterfield Valley.  
 
Ordinance 2566 includes the specific requirement that “building facades should be articulated 
using color, arrangement, or change in materials to emphasize the façade elements. The planes 
of the exterior walls may be varied in height, depth, or direction. Extremely long facades shall be 
designed with sufficient building articulations and landscaping to avoid a monotonous or 
overpowering appearance.” As the ordinance prescribes a majority brick building, the applicant 
has applied the various brick colors, along with the stone elements, to provide visual interest and 
mitigate the monotonous and institutional appearance that all brick buildings tend to present. 
 

D. Landscape Design and Screening     
The request includes landscaping required by the City of Chesterfield Tree Preservation and 
Landscape Requirements.  Accordingly, trees will be planted throughout the site. Landscape beds 
containing shrubs will surround the building and parking island areas. A landscape bed containing 
annual seasonal plantings is proposed in the front entrance area.  The dumpster enclosure and 
ground-mounted utilities are screened by plantings.  
 
Several bio-retention areas are proposed on the site; these rain gardens will be planted with 
native plantings. These rain gardens will be designed to MSD standards and will help capture 
storm water runoff from the site.  
 
E. Signage     
Signage is not part of the proposal before Architectural Review Board and will be reviewed by 
Staff.  
 

F. Lighting     
The lighting plan proposes the typical fully shielded, full cut-off pole mounted parking lot light 
fixtures and building entry wall mounted light fixtures. Additionally, canopy light fixtures are 
proposed at the entry. Each of these fixtures meets City code requirements.  
 
In addition to these, the applicant is proposing a significant amount of façade accent lighting on 
both the north and south elevations. This accent lighting consists of projections of intense blue 
light on various portions of the façade. A rendering of the proposed accent lighting and a light 
fixture cut sheet for each fixture is included in the packet. Regarding such lighting, the Unified 
Development Code states the following:  
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 Exterior building lighting shall be architecturally integrated with the building style, 
material, and color. The color of exterior lamps shall be consistent with that on 
surrounding buildings. 
 

 All accent lighting, including light emitting diodes (LED), and lighting used for signage shall 
be subject to the approval of the Department. 

 

 All exterior lighting shall be unobtrusive, harmonious with the local area, and constructed 
or located so that only the intended area is illuminated and off-site glare is fully controlled. 
 

Based on this criteria, Staff has determined that the proposed fixture type “G”, which is a 24 LED 
wall washer mounted to cast light on to the building and beyond into the sky, is not permitted by 
code and this has been communicated to the applicant as an issue to be addressed prior to 
Planning Commission review of this project.  
 
However, in addition to these large uplights, smaller accent lights, identified as fixture types “H” 
and “J”, which do not cast light beyond the building façade are proposed. Fixture “H” is a 12 LED 
downlight to be mounted on each of the entry canopy stone columns. Fixture “J” is a square 
metal halide fixture with four windows that emit beams of light in a cross pattern to provide 
decorative illumination on the building façade. Two of these fixtures are proposed on the main 
façade, shown below. Smaller applications of accent lighting such as these can be permitted if 
they are found to be architecturally integrated with the building design and harmonious with the 
surrounding area. As such, Staff is particularly interested in receiving feedback on these smaller 
wall-mounted fixtures from the ARB. 
 

 
Rendering of Proposed Accent Lighting 
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DEPARTMENTAL INPUT 
Staff is requesting recommendations from the ARB on the Site Development Section Plan, 
Landscape Plan, Lighting Plan, Architectural Elevations and Architect’s Statement of Design.  Be 
advised, this project is still going through development review by City Staff and will not proceed 
to the Planning Commission until all outstanding items have been addressed. All 
recommendations made by the ARB will be included in Staff’s report to the Planning Commission. 
 
MOTION 
The following options are provided to the Architectural Review Board for consideration relative 
to this application: 
 
1)  “I move to forward the Site Development Section Plan, Landscape Plan, Lighting Plan, 

Architectural Elevations and Architect's Statement of Design for River Crossings, Lot 4 
(Holiday Inn Express), as presented, with a recommendation for approval (or denial) to the 
Planning Commission.”  

 
2) “I move to forward the Site Development Section Plan, Landscape Plan, Lighting Plan, 

Architectural Elevations and Architect's Statement of Design for  River Crossings, Lot 4 
(Holiday Inn Express), to the Planning Commission with the following recommendations…”  

 
Attachments 

1. Architectural Review Packet Submittal   
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